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Oral History Interview with: Mrs. Chiyo Matsumiya 
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Date: 4/3/84 

LK: Your name? 

M: Ogino Chiyo (maiden name) 

~ Place and date of birth? 

M. Fukui Ken, Onyugilll, Kaminaka cho, Seki , April 10,: 1899 

~ Name of the parents? 

M. Ogino Kimezo (father), M.a$d Ogino (mother) 

~ How many brothers and sisters: 
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M. Let me see. Two sisters and one half-brother. He died a long 

time ago. His name was Kashiro Ogino •.. took care of the Ogino 

home. Sister's name was Ogino Kimi. I don't know the other one. 

I was young then. She got married and in two or three years died. 

Kimi died. I'm just the only one left. Both parents deceased. 

LK What did your father do .for a livehood? 

M. Farming, rice farming 

~ Did your father own the land? 

M. Yes 

I¥1.< How much? 

M. I don't know ••• quite a bit. I don't know. I carne so early here. 

D< Was the house built on the land? On~half acre? One acre? 

M. Well, you know in Japan, house is built and the land is all 

around, see, so I don't know. It's not close together, you 

know, the neighbors. 

tM< I would venture to say not more than five acres or less. 

M. Yes, it's a big place. 

u Can you describe what the area, your town looked like? 



OHI Interview with Mrs. Chiyo Matsumiya continued 4/3/84 -2• 

M. Just like Salt Lake. Mountains in back; snow ••• so many snows 

and fall comes. Just like Salt Lake. My place is a small place 

and big river (stream) border on back sides. And it's the only 

place in Japan where it snows the most. Mountains are always 
ord... dri-, er -t-'~-e...es; 

covered with snow and pine trees.l\shake. It's near the D"apan Sea. 

You can see from the mountains ••• way yonder. 

LK. Were there other members of the family that lived in town? 

Were they connected? 

M. Yes, they all lived in the same place. 

LK. Did you go the school as a young child? 

M. Yes, I used to walk to school ••• quite a distance away. Nine 

villages were combined into one school. I used to walk in the 

snow wearing long boots. 

LK. What do you remember about school? How did you like it? 

M. Oh, I loved school. I don't want to brag but I received an award 

from the mayor for exceilence. My father, even though it's a 

small village, loved to help people. In every village there's 

a place where people can gather to report, etc. He was the 

headman of the ward. He loved to help. 

LK. What was the kind of things do you remember your father doing 

for the people? 

M. When the fanning (harvest) is over, the older people made threads 

to make nets for fishing. My father brought the base (material to 

make the thread) from far away and used to sell it to the country 

people and when-9\e nets are made, took it to Osaka and other 

places. This is done when you can't fann. He brought the 

plant (the base) which was dried from the farmers and divided 

them among the villagers. Then ITI.Y father would gather them and 



OHI Interview with Mrs. Chiyo Matst.nniya 4/3/84 continued 

took it far away. 

LK. So he was a kind of a teacher? supervisor? 
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M. Yes, in the olden days, the old people did not know how to write 

and my father reing the headman, so all the villagers came to 

ask my father to write a letter, please read this and that, and 

ask for other favors. This I remember when I was a child. He 

also loved to play "go" (checkers). Just al:x:mt the time when the 

harvest is over the village temple priest comes and invites my 

father to play "go." So they play "go" in the temple and my 

father would not come home till rrorning. So my rrother suggested 

taking me along so he would come home early. But when I went 

with my father, I, reing a child, would fall asleep, and the 

priest' s wife would let me sleep there. 'Ihen my father would 

play till morning. So that didn't work. I can't forget things 

like that. 

LK. Can you describe what is it like to farm? How do you remember it? 

M. Rice farming. In the spring we plant the rice one by one, by 

hand, then when it' s growing, we go to the rrountain to pick weeds 

and rot them (as fertilizer). Then we stamp the decayed weeds by 

feet retween the rows. It' s a story of long ago. 'Ihen we put them 

by hand. This was done when I was a child. 

LK. Did your father work alone, or did he have help? 

M. Oh, ~ sisters, my mother, everyl::x::xiy helped. OUr neighb:>rs helped. 

When one field is done, then we go on to another neighb:>r's fields. 

LK. How long do you remember the day reing on the farm .•• when they 

begin and when they ended? 

M. Fran early morning, day break, we go out. I.J:Jng time ago, the 

temple bell used to ring. When it rang, we said "There's the rell, 
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let's get up." This is long time ago when there were no clocks. 

LK. How long is the day? 

M. 13etween morning and noon, there's a rest period for al:::XJut an hour 

or more when we go into the house for a cup of tea. Then after 

lunch, we take a nap, al:::XJut an hour or so. Then arotmd 3 o'clock 

we take another rest, then when it recomes dark we come home. 

LK. Mter the rice plant is planted, what kind of tending does it 

need over the growing season? 

M. They're just like hot l::a:l plants. We plant tiny plants. I only 

stayed in the country until I was 12 or 13 years old. Then I 

left for Kyoto, so I don't remember. 

LK. Why did you leave for Kyoto? 

M. I graduated gramnar school. My father, since my school records 

were good, wanted me to become a school teacher. But my mother 

said, "Oh, this child is just like a boy and if she becomes a teacher, 

she will recome so conceited that we won't be able to do anything 

with her." It was the custan from the olden days to go to Kyoto and 

work (as a servant) before you can look forward toward a marriage. 

It was more of a custan to go out and work as a maid in a house 

to learn manners and etiquette. So after I graduated grammar 

school I went to Kyoto. Then I learned that I was going to 

America so I went to school. •. Kyoto Jogakko (girls' school) for 

al:::XJut three years. Maxine Furubayashi graduated from there too. 

The school is still there ••. when I was there it was half finished. 

LK. What do you remember learning in school? What kinds of things 

were you taught? 

M. I wanted to learn English because I was going to American. I took 

a regular course in English. About 2~ to 3 years ... I skipped once. 
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I don • t know the reason why; maybe it was because I was older. 

But I really studied hard. I also had a little bit of home 

economics and Japanese history from way back. My eyes were bad 

so I had to go back and forth to the eye doctor. I lived with 
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my half-sister during that time. During stmmer vacation I went to 

the teacher• s home to learn English too. I dictn• t graduate 

because I came to America. 

lli. How did your interest in America and in speaking English came 

al:out so early? 

M. Because if you go to America you have to speak English. After 

I learned that I was going to America I quit the maid•s job 

and went to school fran my half-sister• s place. My marriage 

was arranged by the parents. I didn • t even see or know my future 

husband. (bai.shaku (e-kkon). 

LK. How early was it arranged? 

M. When I left home to go to Kyoto I didn • t even know aJ:x>ut my 

arranged marriage ... just worked as a maid to learn all about 

housekeeping, etc. Matsumiya• s and my family were sort of 

related but not blood relative ... lived in the same village. 

LK. What is the family situation that you had a half-sister? Does 

that mean your father had rrore than one wife? 

M. My father• s older brother who was married, died and my father 

married his wife, (sister-in-law). They had a boy and a girl. 

That•s my half-sister and also a half-brother who took over the family. 

LK. In what way did your father and rrother prepare you for this 

arranged marriage? What was told to you? How did they prepare 

you? 

M. I don• t know. In the olden days, you had to obey your parents. 
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You had to say 11Hai. 11 (yes). 

LK. How were you prepared for the arranged marriage? What advice were 

you given? 

M. I didn't like the small fann life and when I learned about going 

to America, I decided to go to school. 

LK. What was it about fanning o:t: the village life that you wanted 

to get away from it? 

M. Well, fanning I liked; even now I grow things. In any event I 

just didn' t like living in such a small place. In olden Japan, 

young girls didn't have anything to say. In everything you hcid 

to obey your parent with 11Hai, hai. 11 I wanted to go to a bigger 

place. I didn't want to be stuck in a small place. Not to get away 

from parents. 

LK. What had you learned about America at that time? 

M. Well, I learned some things in school. Also from our area there 

weren't too many people like from Kyus· u andHiroshirna. who went 

to America. There were a few people, however. And the parents 

of the people who went to America talked about America and Matsumiya 

sent money to his parents and they bought mountains and fields 

( fann land). So I just wanted to go to a wider place. At any 

rate I wanted to go to America. 

LK. Were you, did you hear anything negative about the United States? 

Were you frightened, rraybe, about anything? 

M. I didn't have anything like that. The neighbors were all good to 

me. But during that war when we were forced to evacuate, I did 

have feelings then ••• that happened to everyone. I came to Salt 

lake in November 1943; before that I was in Eureka, a rnin.:ing town. 

LK: You hadn't heard anything that might have frightened you? 
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M. No, nothing. Even after the war when we came here, our next door 

neighl::ors were good to us. 

LK. In terms of comparing your attitude with the attitudes of the 

girls of you~? age at that time in Japan, were you different kind 

of girl? Did you see yourself as different? 

M. Different in Japan? At any rate we had to obey our mothers and 

the girls had to go out to learn manners. So we just said "Hai, 

ha ... l • And we really worked like dogs. Even though we had big fann 

and no worry al:x:mt food, we had to work hard, obeying. Then the 

opportunity came to go to America; so I went to school. 

LK. How were you different from the other girls? 

M. I don • t know myself but people used to tell me that I was smart • 

• • . that I was more matured than others when I was ymmg. 

LK. What al::x:mt your desire to come to the United States? Were you 

different in that sense? 

M. Matsumiya returned to Japanj then we got married in Japan. And we 

came together to America. From my area, there• s no one who came 

to America. There were others from other cotmty; for example, 

Ariyoshi-san of Sage Fann is from Fukui ](en but different "gtm" 

(district, cotmty) • There is Pee Wee Kobayashi who owns a 

gas service station. Mr. Kobayashi• s father is from the same 

colmty. I don• t know why there are no other girls from our area. 

LK. What kind of religious training did you have? Was your family a 

religious family? 

M. We were Buddhists. I don• t know al::x:mt Matsumiya• s family. But 

my father was a good friend of the temple priest; and I f requently 

visited the temple, not with my father. But whenever there was a 

special occasion I went to the temple with my mother. 

-J 
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LK. On what occasion do you rememl::er visiting the shrine? 

M. Yes, ItW father, every morning and night, chanted prayers. And we 

used to do the same thing. I rememl::er some of it. 

LK. How do you rernernl:::er your relationship with your mother? 

M. In Japan, women can't say anything. My mother was a very quiet 

person; and she used to tell me to ~ more quiet. Instead of going 

to school, she wanted me to go to Kyoto to learn manners and get 

married in a proper way. My father knew I wanted to go to school 

and wanted me to }:ex)rne a school teacher; but that was not the 

proper way for a girl. She was old fashioned .•• my mother. I · · 

learned to weave cloth from my mother. She says girls should know 

such things. I had a big body, and unless you have long legs it's 

hard to reach up to the frame. Japanese women are small in stature; 

but I was big and could reach up high. I had to do all those things. 

LK. What was it like to meet your future husband? Do you remember? 

M. Most of the picture brides must have had the same feelings. You 

can' t say you don' t want to because your parents have already made 

the arrangements. So you had to go quietly and get married. That's 

the way it was. 

LK. Was it baishaku lcS< did you see his picture? 

M. I didn't even see his picture ~fore we got married 

I remember when I saw him, he was rather tall for a Japanese. 

LK. Did you have a dowry? (misinterpreted as diary) • 

M. I didn' t have one written at that time but later on I did write 

one for many years. From ~fore Matsumiya died, I started to write 

about the time the war }::egan; After the war, even now, I still write 

diary. My kids don' t read Japanese so when I die, I don' t know .•• 

may~ it will get burned up but it has beccme a habit with rne. 

LK. Did you have a dowry for the marriage? 



CHI Interview with Mrs. Chiyo Matsumiya 4/3/84 continued 

M. Oh, yes, mostly money and osake and others. We were going to 

America and we didn' t need anything in Japan. So we asked that they 

don' t do anything and roth agreed. So we didn' t have a big wedding. 

We did have a big reception; but it was all l::orrowed items •.. my 

sister's and others. They told me that I don't need kimonos in 

America. My father was gone then. He died when he was 52 years old. 

LK. What year did he die? 

M. He was 52 and I was in Kyoto working as a maid. Maybe Mei ji 

period ••• Taisho? 

LK. What year did you leave Japan? 

M. I think 1918. 

LK. IXJ you remember the date of your father's birth? 

M. It was in the census registration. 

LK. Where were you when your father died? 
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M. I was in Kyoto, and I came home for al::out a month to take care of him. 

He didn' t know al::out my · going to America. He died before the marriage 

arrangerrent was made. Just my mother and Matsumiya' s parents were 

present. 

LK. Was your father sick a long tine before he died? 

M. It wasn't too long. It wasn't a heart attack but he had a ba.d 

heart. In those days there weren't many doctors. 

LK. Did he die suddenly or was he sick for a long tine? 

M. No, I think he took it easy for maybe half a year. 

LK. When you look ba.ck on your childhood now, what are the most strong 

vivid things for you in your childhood? What stands out al::out 

your growing up? 

M. Not much. After a big snow stonn we used to make steps up to the 

temple roof in the snow; and we took a straw nat and slid down the 

snow fran the temple roof •.. just like skiing. Things like that. At 
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any rate, we couldn't play much in Japan. And we used to go 

htmting for mushrooms with my father and all. Between spring 

and SLmUl1Err time, the rrotmtains are full of grass. My father went 

up and cut them and dried them and we btmdle them and bring them 

home. These dried grasses we put them in the rice field. During 

these grass cutting times, we went along and searched for mushrooms 

and played. 

LK. IX> you remember any interesting characters in your village? 

M. Well, there weren't any. I rerrerriber during Bon Odori, my father 

who loved to sing, used to dance in the middle of the circle. · 

When my father stopped dancing, the circle would get smaller. 

He would beat the drum and sing. I accompanied him since I was 

very ymmg. 

LK. Are there any differences, you renember l:Etween the oron festival 

you had in your village and the ones you have here? 

M. It has tEen a long tirre ago. We didn't have any food or drink •.• 

just dancing. Here they sell food and the profit goes to the 

church. I went to Kyoto early so ••• 

LK. We' 11 stop here for tod.ay and pick up next time with your C'Ollring 

to the United States. And we' 11 focus the interview afterwards on 

what happened here. 
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M. Right after we were married, we came to America. He came after me. 

I..K. IX> you remember the name of the ship you came on? 

M. Tenyo Maru 

I..K. What was it like? What was the ride like? 

M. Oh, such a big sight. We came third class. First class-high 

toned people and second and third class. Everylxx:ly together had 

lots of fun. 

I..K. Who was on the l:x:>at besides yourself? IX> you remember any 

picture brides coming to the united States? 

M. They were mostly married people and lots of picture brides coming. 

over. Same people who were wealthy came on first-class. The 

men wanted to show off; there are people like that. Matsumiya, 

fran the first, told me that if I went to America it would be 

this way and so didn't try to show off. I came on "tc:«usan". 

It was between second and third class, special third class. 

I..K. IX> you remember where these picture brides were earning fran? 

What prefecture? 

M. Hiroshima and around there. I was the only one from my area. 

And KyushV and waKayama, "Yamaguchi. 

IK. IX> you rernember talking to the picture brides and how they felt 

about coming? 

M. Not so much about marriage but mostly "Llllngs in general in Japan. 

I was also cautioned to not to talk too much ..• was rather quiet. 

I..K. What did you bring with you? IX> you remember? 

M. I really didn't bring anything ... didn't bring any kirnono ... nothing. 

I don• t know about other people but according to Matsumiya I was 

told to make dresses when I got here. 
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LK. Did you have any plans of how long they were coming here? How 

much time did you think you were going to stay in the United States? 

M. Well, the issei had ideas of making money and going ba.ck to 

Japan early, I think. But we thought of the children only. 

If the children wanted to stay here, we woUld stay ... we didn't 

have children yet. I wasn't thinking of going back to Japan 

even if I had children. From the J::eginning I was going to stay 

here. I was thinking of raising the children here. Some people 

were thinking of going back to Japan in a few years. Matsumiya 

said that after we have two children, we woUld go back to Japan and 

educate them in Japan. He said if I didn' t go back the children 

will be taken care of by the grandm:>ther. That is how most of 

the issei were thinking. They weren't eligible for citizenship, 

that is why. I came here in 1918 and received my naturalization 

papers in 1953. 

LK. Where did you get the idea that you wanted to be pennanent? 

M. It wasn't fran the J::eginning but as the children grew, I knew 

that if they went ba.ck, they woUld eventually come ba.ck to 

the United States. So rather than going ba.ck and forth, I was 

going to stay here. 

LK. Was that a different kind of idea of staying in this country 

fran the very J::eginning than most of the people around here had? 

Were you different? 

M. As the time came, we were pUlled by the children to be this way. 

LK. Where did the ship land? 

M. San Francisco 

LK. Were you examined? 
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Interviewers: Mitsugi Kasai, Leslie Kelen Date: 4/11/84 

M. Just a general physical examination, like eyes, given by the 

immigration office. 

LK. How long did it take? 

M. No, I think they wanted to get rid of us, I guess ... so many people. 

Let me see ... I slep there one more day, about two days. 

LK. Will you descril::e the scene of landing in San Francisco? "What 

was it like? 

M. I was happy to 1::e in a big country like America. We were married 

already but I don't know about the picture brides. I was looking 

curiously around. I came to America and wanted to get settled 

so I wasn' t thinking too much about other people. But as the 

ship docked, there were crowds of people. And the picture brides 

were all looking around for their future husbands. 

LK. Where were you taken for the examination? 

M. Immigration office ... somewhere. I think the Immigration Office 

was away from the }Xlrt; . we stayed there one night and then came 

back to the }Xlrt to 1::e examined, I thought. I think we ·-were 

taken by a small boat to the Lrnmigration Office ... not to the island. 

I really can't remember the detail. Everything was so new then ... 

My husband was adrni tted one day earlier and he stayed one night 

at a hotel and then he came back for me. I had to stay one night 

with the other women. Mayl::e we stayed one night on the boat ..• 

sixty years ago •.. I don't remember exactly. Anyway, after 

Immigration I went to the pier. Usually people can come inside 

the pier, but at the time l::ecause of the war and confusion, they 

couldn' t come in. They had to wait outside the pier. SO I went 

there. Then we went to town. It was a Japanese hotel. Can't 

remember the name ... Bocho Hotel, something like that. 

-.) 
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M. Next day we went to Market Street, saw the high buildings. I was 

relieved that I finally cane to San Francisco. We went up and 

down Market Street, window shopping. And I was surprised to 

see how tall the hakujins were (caucasians). During that t.ime 

they wore, the ladies, long dresses and high hats. During that 

time I brought that shell as a souvenir of that time. 

Next day, at the hotel, merchants cane to sell dresses. 

The dressmaker (Japanese) measured me and made me dresses. 

J stayed there until the dresses were completed. She completely 

stripped me and I had to buy everything. The lady said I must 

have this and that. Matsumiya took care of the money matter. I 

just stood there in a daze .•. so I don't know what happened. I 

must have bought everything ... shoes, high-buttoned shoes. 

LK. Good J::Eginning? 

M. Yes I wanted to come to America. I was really .amazed at the height 

of the people. 

LK. How long did you stay at the hotel? 

M. I don' t remerrii::Er how many days we stayed. I think we had to 

wait until my dresses were ready. Maybe about three days. Then 

we took a train to Salt Lake. 

LK. How long did the ride take to come here? 

M. I think we slept on the train one night. My husband worked for 

the railroad so train fare was free but other acccmnodation we 

had to pay, like the pullman section, sleeping berth, where we slept. 

LK. Where did you go when you first cane to Salt Lake? 

M. To the Salt Lake Union Station. Then to the store called Hashimoto 

owned by Dr. E. I. Hashimoto's father. He sold groceries and supplied 

all the needs of the Japanese people working in railroad sections. 

He took orders for clothes fran the Japanese people living in 

rural districts. He had everything •.. that' s how he made rroney. 
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We stayed at a hotel next to the store. Can't recall the name. 

LK. Where was the store? 

M. On South TEmple, l:etween West Temple and First South. I wonder? 

It's been 60 years ago ... All the Japanese congregated there. 

Utah Nippo was nearby too. 

LK. What other things do you rernernl::Er of that area? 

M. I don't know. Dr. Hashirroto' s mother took me to buy clothes and 

I think Kida san's mothe!j who passed away sewed a few things for 
I 

me, like house dresses. I think I stayed al:out a week and then 

moved out to the col..U1try. I didn't see too many Japanese. Then 

Mrs. Hashirroto took me to ZCMI to do some shopping. I was all1Clzed 

how easily she conversed with the sales clerk. I rernernl:er her 

pushing the button and the elevator shot up. She helped me with 

shoes, extra dresses and l..U1derwears. 

LK. Did you l:ecome friendly with Mrs. Hashirroto that ... 

M. It wasn't that but Mrs. Hashirroto looked after the people who came 

fran the country like the picture brides and other people who 

carre fran Japan. Also if they were going to the counry, arrange-

ments were made for ordering foods so it was a good business for 

them. 

LK What did the store look '-like on the inside? 

M. Just like any large grocery store. The shelves were stocked. 
(Soy ~a~c..e) 

Rice was stacked high. Oshoyu was on top of one another. These 

staples were sent to railroad sections in and around utah, especially 

to the railroad camps, etc. And 1whenever, Japanese foods were needed, 

a letter was written and Hashimotos would deliver them. 

LK. Did your husband go right ba.ck to work as soon as you got there? 

M. We stayed in Salt lake al:out a week and went to Eureka. 

LK. What do you remember al:out Mr. Hashirroto himself? 
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M. Oh, I really didn't talk to him; but he was a big shot, I think. 

Just that Mrs. Hashimoto looked after me. He was behind an office 

that was enclosed in steel l:::ars and was looking arOtmd. 

That was the e~t~nt . Of course, he made lots of money because 

of the Japanese railroad workers. 

LK. Did you see scenes when the workers woUld be coming in and 

he woUld be helping them? 

M. Yes, I saw him and he had lots of helpers. I think once a month 

big orders came in. We had our orders delivered but those nearby 

came after them. Since IT!Y husband worked on the railroad, the 

freight was free. 

Lk. During that time was Matsurniya san in Eureka already? 

M. It was at ·a place alx::>ut 10 to 20 miles from Eureka called Jericho. 

There was a double section there so Mr. and Mrs. Yarn.amoto lived in 

one section and we lived in the other section. D:luble section 

probably means two families live in one house. 

LK. At the time you were still in Salt Lake what do you remember as 

to what kind of jobs that the Japanese railroad workers held? 

M. Many of them in sections, working in roundhouses. That's the only 

kind of jobs there were. 

LK. Did many of the people there maintain some residence or housing 

in the area near the store? Did many people live around there? 

M. I' rn sure there were, but I don' t know. I just got there. I think 

we stayed in Salt Lake alx::>ut a week. We took the train and went to 

Jericho. Union Pacific ... it wasn't called that at that time. 

During the influenza epidemic around 1919 many people died. My 

husband contacted the flu and had to be hospitalized. Mrs. 

--/CJfhJrn:.t~ had two children and she was in Salt lake delivering her third 

child. When she returned she brought the flu bug with her. You 
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.wouldn't think that one would get the flu in a desolate place but 

she brought it and everyone got the flu. I was about the last to 

get the flu so I took care of the sick ones. I don't know about 

the Mexicans living in bunks nearly. We were living in the foreman's 

house. We were only Japanese there. 

Yorna 'rroto' s had the flu but very light. There were no doctors 

to see. Eureka was closed. Matsumiya was the last to contact 

the flu. In the meanwhile, he took care of the sick ones and 

finally had to go to Salt lake Hospital. Eureka is a mining 

town. It used to be a big town. Railroad people were busy there, too. 

Then after we got well, we heard from Mr. MOri that sugar 

beets were selling at a good price of $12.00 a ton and the farming 

is better than working for the railroad. He said why not go into 

farming? SO in the spur of the rnorrent we decided to move to 

Sandy, near the entrance of Midvale and there we fanned for a while. 

Then we went broke. Mr. Mori used to work in the roundhouse and 

was a good friend of my husband. We didn't have any children 

then so we really worked like a horse. We worked under Mr. Mori 

for a while. We went broke and we moved to Payson way. 

LK. What was the work like? 

M. Oh, it was very hard work. At that time there were no machines, 

mechanized, to do the work. We thinned the beets •.• had backaches .. 

• . . couldn't stand or sit. I guess Mr. Mori had arout ten acres or 

so and on the side he raised peas and things like that and sent 

them to the factory. 

LK. How many years did you do farming? 

M. Until end of 192l ... then we moved to Benjamin;Kurumada's were there. 

My boy was rorn in 1921, then Jean was born. We were poor. During 

that tirre, a big hail storm cane and destroyed the crop. We 
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realized that no matter what we do, we• re still going to be 

broke so it's better to go back to our fonner job. so in the 

fall of that year, we returned to Eureka to Kimberly rl..(~C:n~ 

back to the railroad. 

Benjamin was between Payson and Spanish Fork. 

We rented some land and grew sugar beets. 

LK. During the first two years when you were working with~..Mr'. Mori, 

what happened? Why were you broke? What happened? 

M. We didn • t like Mr. Mori. He was always in town and here we were 

working like a horse. SO we decided it was better to separate; 

so we did. Mori • s had several children and when I wanted to take 

a bath in the evening, I had to bathe all the Mori' s children. I 

didn • t ha~ any children, we were both young and we worked like a 

horse. Ml:S. Mori had four children so there were lots of work 

to be done. 

LK Why didn • t you make money? What happened? 

M. You don't make money working under someone. We also raised 

peas and things. Mori • s son planted them and we took care of it 

and sent it to the factory. It was all work, hard work, so we 

decided to leave. But after we went to Benjamin, we raised sugar 

beets but in the second year, big hail c:stonn destroyed everything. 

During the first year, the owner was a real good person and said 

if we can't pay, it's all right. Said if you need horse, use it. 

He was real good to us. I only remember his first narre, Tom. 

LK. How much land did you rent? 

M. Just a little. I don't remember. 

LK IX> you remember the arrangements that you had & made with him? 



M. I don't know; my hus:band rrade all the arrangerrents. At that tinE 

I had two children. I didn't have one for a long tinE but 

suddenly a year apart I had two. I don• t know whether it was 

cash or share msis. 

LK. Up to this tinE that you rented this land; what had l:x:!e.n your 

understanding of the treatiTEnt of Japanese by whites? 

How do you feel aoout that? 

M. It was good during that tinE. There were rrany Japanese around 

there. Santaquin and thereabouts . were all Japanese fanrers. The 
I 

whites were glad to have the work done. 

LK. When you were in the store with Hashi.rroto• s wife were you warned 

at all ab::>ut whites? Were you given any advice the way people ••. 

M. No, nothing specially. I didn't hear anything. Many .immigrants 

were corrring in so I think they were more interested in rraking 

money. 

LK. In this fann you rented from 'Foro, how did you divide the work? 

What did your hus:band do and what did you do? 

M. My hus:band did all the hard work. I had two children then so 

there wasn't much I could do ... just in the housework, washing, etc. 

My hus:band borrowed all the fann rrachinery and the rent was 

to ~ paid in the fall when the harvest was over. 

During that tine, there was a neighbor, Hirase san. Mr. 

passed away but I'm still a good friend of Mrs. Hirase. They 

were farming then and we~ friends. She is still here and 

we talk quite frequently. They went broke, too. 

There was a Gerrran family narred Bossley. She was really 

good to us and looked after Mrs. Hirase and me, just like our 

parents. He had a fann from way h:tck. When my ooy was oom 

Mrs. Bossley took care of me and Mrs. Hirase did the laundry. 
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And in tun1, when Mrs. Hirase had a baby, I went to help Mrs. 

Bossley was really a kind person •.. she invited us to come and 

eat, if there was no place to sleep she told us to come over. 

When we left Benjamin to go back to the railroad, she let us 

stay over. 

The house we lived in, Tom pulled it from some place. 

Anyway country people are really good, kind people. They all 

help each other. Just having arrived from Japan, I wasn't thinking 

of money, money ••• days just went by. 

At that time, at first, there was no water connected to 

the house so we had to go to a Caucasian house across the 

street and hauled thE> water by bucketful until a well was dug 

and then we had water. Tan dugged the well. 

LK. What kind of fanning were Hirase' s and Tom and Bossley doing? 

M. All fanning, yes. All sugar 'beets and wheat. 

LK. When your child was oorn did you have a midwife? 

M. Mrs. Bossley came to help and a doctor came from Spanish Fork, 

I think. Mrs. Bossley did everything. With, Jeanne I went to the 

Holy Cross Hospital. When we went to the Section, second and 

third girls were oorn and the fourth was oorn. Mrs. Bossley came 

every time to help. The doctor, who attended came from Eureka 

every time. The doctor came several times but in Benjamin just 

once. Mrs. Bossley :_did the washlng and everything, cooking, and 

Mrs. Hirase too. I went to the funeral of Mrs. Bossley from 

here. People are so kind. 

LK. What was Benjamin like? What did it look like? 

M. It' s on the end of the Utah lake •.. very wide open space ••• no 

mountain •.. sort of blurry. It's connected to Spanish Fork fran 

Provo. 
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LK. Was there a town there in Benjamin? 

M. ""' c.-Yes, just a small town .•. ~school and~church· ..• country people 

are really good :people. 

LK. What were your routines like? What were your days like? When did 

you get up? Go to sleep? 

M. Mter I had children, it was cooking, ate breakfast, washed diapers, 

give baby a bath, all done by hand. There was no machine then. 

No help. 

LK. How was your husband getting along with the fanning? How was 

he doing? 

M. He didn't care for fanning so we rroved away. He didn't like 

the idea of J:::orrowing equipnent because he had to borrow it after 

the otheJ:: ·work was finished and he was always late with his own 

fanning. So I said "Let's quit." He didn't own any fann equipnent. 

LK. How did you do financially? 

M. Frcm the Hashimoto' s we bought food once a year. Financially, it 

was bad. W~ raised chiCkens and pigs. I made ham and bacon, 

and headcheese. I learned everything from this GenPan lady. People 

say "headcheese" ...• We smoked ham. 

LK. Did you keep fann animals? 

M. Yes, chicken and pigs. Whatever we need to eat. That's why 

we didn't need too much cash. Whenever we had eggs, we took it 

to the store and exchange it for food stuff. 

LK. What else were you taught by Mrs. Bossley? 

LK. Let • s see. I learned cooking frcm her. She had ten children, 

two girls and eight boys. 

LK. Did you also learn to speak English? 

M. I learned some in Japan and, yes, she taught me, too. And 

we were where there weren't too many caucasians. 
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.,./ LK. What are some of your memories of Mrs. Bossley? 

M. At any rate she was just like Buddha. It doesn't matter 

who carne to the door, she' d ask, "Are you hungry?" After we 

went back to the Section, on Sunday we visit them. The children 

were grown up then and they went pheasant hunting and fishing. 

My husband loved to fish. Then Mrs. Bossley and I would put on 

the apron and I would help her cook. Lots of people come by and 

she always fed them. So nice. When the l:::oys, Bossley' s and our 

children, go fishing, I would prepare a Japanese lunch because 

the Bossley' s l:::oys liked Japanese food. Mrs. Bossley would fill 

the can full of wonns and after fishing, Mrs. Bossley will always 

give pies or something to my husband to bring home. My children 

always looked forward to that treat, not so much the fish but 

her pies or whatever. Both of them died of cancer so I went 

twice to the funeral from here to Payson. 

LK. What did you name your children? 

M. Eldest daughter was named after my husband's grandmother, Tsutako, 

but it's kind of hard to says~ called her Jean. Next one is 

a boy, Kaoru, but we call him Kay. My husband named him. There 

was a famous person named Kaoru in Japan at that time. 

LK. It sounds like you had a very interesting situation, same kindness 

but a very hard life. What do you think about the life in America 

to that point? 

M. I didn't think of anything too seriousy. I had my hands full with 

the children. After we returned to the Section, we received 

rronthly wages and now receive rronthly pension in our old age. 

No difference. Other events, here and there, are gone. Then I 

thought I should study and studied a little by myself. My husband 

corr esponded with his Caucasian friends quite often. 
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LK. Did you have any vision of the future, any hopes, dreams? 

M. Then we rroved to a place where there were boarding houses, round­

houses and others to l:e near the school. It was called Tintic 

Junction near Eureka. I realized that I had to educate my children 

and wanted to mutually sup:p::>rt each other studying. I had five 

children by then and didn't have much time. I guess we worked for 

about two years at Tom' s place and returned to railroad work. 

Matsumiya is not the type to work by himself like that. Tintic 

Junction is a big railroad junction and it had roundhouses, 

maintenance house, boarding house and the like. It was rather 

convenient so we rroved there; the fonner place where we lived 

was several miles away. The children went to school by bus to 

Eureka. The last child was bom in 1934. When we rroved to 

Tintic, I had two children and three were bom in Tintic. Even 

while we we were living in Tintic, Mrs. Bossley visited us. Her 

boys drove the car and she usually stayed about three weeks or 

so. She' s just like my mother. 

LK. How far is Tintic from Benjamin? 

M. Mayl:e 30 miles or so. I don't know. Not too far, but long time 

ago ••.. 

LK. How many years in Benjamin? 

M. Two or three years, I think. 

LK. why don't we stop here for today. We' 11 continue next time 

to talk about Tintic. 

,~ 
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LK. Last time we left off after working for Tom. After leaving 

Tom you went back to the railroad. During that time you started 

to cook? 

M. Yes, little later cuz my children were small. Two Japanese came 

to work and they urged me to go to the bunk house. So I said 

"let' s just eat together. " For al:x:mt ten years I cooked for them. 

This was at Tintic, Utah, in Juab County. There's a Tintic 

Standard Mine nearby. 

LK. Where did you live? 

M. We were working for the railroad and lived in the railroad house. 

There was a mine and the main railroad line ran from Salt Lake 

to Los Angeles and my husband was the section foreman. I think 

he worked for the Union Pacific railroad until the war, in different 

places. 

LK. What did your husband do when you cane back? 

M. He was a section foreman. 

LK. Can you describe what that was? 

M. He supervised five or six Mexicans. He stood there and watched 

them work. These Mexicans straightened the railroad tracks; if it 

is low made it higher, etc .•.• watched them to see if they are 

working or not. He rod$ motor cart here and there. In those 

days that was the only work the Japanese Issei's could do. Of 

course, the house, coal, water were all provided. Electricity 

we had to pay ourselves. At first there was no electricity but 

when the airport was built nearby lines were extended, tmtil 

then we all used lamps, kerosene. 

I .... 
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LK. When was that? 

M. Oh, I think, 1922. For many years I used to carry lamp into each 

room otherwise the children won' t play. Kd.nis.h.i- san knows a.J:::x:>Ut 

this. 

LK. What kind of housing did you get. What was it like? 

M. Oh, according to location, sorre houses were good ones. Where. 

we were ... when we first came from Japan, we lived in an ordinary 

house; we had the back section and the front section another 

family lived. Then when we came here we lived in a freight 

(box car) two box cars joined together by a floor-aoout six roc.rns. 

It was really nice and wann. If you look from the outside, it 

looked like a regular house. It had ceiling and roof. I think 

it was just us that had this type of housing. Others had regular 

houses--other Sections ... the railroad canpany built regular houses. 

I don't know why ours had this kind. Mayre one reason, the main 

line and branch lines and many maintenance houses were there. 

As the children grew, we needed more }:)edroc.rns so that • s 

why we got this house. Otherwise it would J:::.e in an area where the 

train just passed through. In any event, Japanese stayed and 

worked longer so we were able to get what we wanted. We needed 

a place where:clrildren could go to school. This house was already 

built when we moved in and we planted trees in the front to make 

it look nice. It was really a wann house ... cool in the surrmer. 

It's about 5,000 feet elevation ... Tintic was. 

The trains went to Salt Lake and trains came from Los Angeles. 

It was a surrmit and every train stopped here to take on coal and 

water and get the engines ready. That' s how it was in the olden 

days. Trains caning from Salt Lake were pulled by two engines. It 

was a Tintic railroad junction. The narre was taken from the 



Tintic silver mine. Being a surrmit when the freight train COI'TES 

in, it had to be pulled by two engines and there were numerous 

extra tracks. And going down one engine was left behind. 

Being 5,000 feet high, there were hardly any cloudy days, 

always surmy days. The air was clear. When we drive to Salt 

Lake and crossed the Point-of-the-Mountain, the Salt Lake area 

was blanketed with smog. That's because everyone was burning 

coal. 

LK. Were there many other Japanese families over there? 

M. Maybe five years later in Eureka, a cleaning and laundry shops 

were established by Japanese. 

LK. Who was it? 

M. K.iJ<ushirna. 

LK. Do you remember the narre of the store? 

M. Eureka Cleaning, I think. 'TI1en Yamashita san moved in. Yamashita 

san came fran Hooper, Utah. Harry Yamashita, a young couple, came 

and brought the cleaning shop after KiKushima san left for Japan 

in 1939. The whole KiJ<ushimi family went l::ack. 

LK. There were no single Japanese llEl'l, no Japanese camp there? 

M. I think there was one Japanese cook who worked for a wealthy 

caucasian family. There were no obher Japanese. (Read Mrs. 

Yoseida'a account.) 

LK. How did the arrangements for her to start cooking for Mexicans 

or others start? 

M. I didn't cook for Mexicans, just Japanese. When Japanese laborers 

came looking for work fran other railroad locality, it was during 

depression. I couldn • t just send them to their bunk house and to cook 

for themselves. I felt sorry for them so I invited them to eat with 

us. Two, three at the most. I cooked for about 1{}-15 years for 

( 
(I.J:-. 
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Japanese workers. Eventually they all returned to Japan :tecause 

their wives were there. But when the war started one of them couldn • t 

go back to Japan, so I think I cooked for him for lD-15 years. 

They didn • t ask me to cook for them. They did cook by themselves 

for 2 or 3 days. I did it out of kindness. They worked under 

my husband. 

LK. IX> you remember their narres? 

M. Yes, Frank Ichikawa, l3en Fukushima and the other was Hachiya san. 

Don't remember his first narre. He really helped ne making kindling 

wood, bringing in coal when my children were small. He stayed 

with us for about three years. Fukushima san stayed about five 

years and Ichi: awa san stayed over ten years. When the war started, 

we had to move. IchiKawa san cane along with us. In 1952, Ichil(awa 

went back to Japan. There was a flcx:xi here. I remember taking 

him to the train station. The other two went back before the war, 

Hachiya-san and Fukushima san. When the war started everyone said 

there is a Jap working for the railroad and in order to avoid 

trouble, we were asked to move out. They said they were sorry 

but if there were no Japanese, there would be no trouble. We 

stayed till spring because the children were still going to 

school in Eureka. We moved to Payson :Benjamin, back to where 

the Bossley• s lived. We rented a house in Payson and we did day 

work. Mr. Bossley only had sugar beets and wheat so in Payson area, 

there was work picking beans, tcrnatoes and other things. 

LK. What were these people like? Going back to Tintic, Fuklshima san and 

others? 

M. IchiKawa san cane to Eureka to open a laundry but went broke so 

he cane over to our place and my husband said to stay a while 
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with us and that's how he went to work f or my hus'band. So he 

stayed for ab:>ut ten years. 

LK. What was he like, IchiKawa san? 

M. Very sly f ellow, lazy. Fukushima san worked six days. But 

every chance he had he made kindling woods, hauled coal because 

I had small children. He did all these things for me. IchiKawa 

san never did a thing. He was a lazy guy. 

LK. What was it like for you to bring up children in Tintic? 

M. I did my .best to teach my children Japanese so I S}X>ke to them 

in Japanese but outside .•• it's all Caucasians. Al:x:>ut the time 

the children were in Jr. school, gramnar school, I ordered sorre 

Japanese books from Japan and taught them. But Hachiya san, my 

husband all talked in English to the children. You can't blame 

them. There were no companions. So I finally gave up. I finally 

realize that I had to learn English in order to keep up with the 

children. I had sorre basic English in Japan as I rrentioned before, 

so I began to study English in earnest. 

In surrmer time, I sent my two children, Kaoru and Jean, to 

Salt Lake to Koji Sasaki, a rather difficult )::lerson. The children 

stayed with them and went to Japanese school. .. for ab:>ut two 

S1.ll'lTCerS. The children still remember a little. Mr. Sasaki 

had two children, one lx>y, lx>rn the same day as my Kaoru. He 

(Sasaki) was very strict and would scold them if they spoke any 

English and at hane they had to SJ::leak Japanese, so they were 

canpelled to learn Japanese. Mr. Sasaki passed away so did 

his son, Albert. 

LK. Did Mr. Sasaki have a school or just in his own home? 

M. In his own hone ..• no school. Mrs. Sasaki did not speak any 
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English so the children leamed to speak Japanese quite flue,_tly. 

LK. How did you find al::out him? 

M. Oh, we were friends fran way back. When we were fanning in this 

area, whenever we went to Salt Lake in the winter, I used to help 

them with chaml::ennaid work. He was operating a hotel so we 

were friends before. 

LK. What was the name of the hotel? 

M. Red Wing Hotel on the area now occupied by the Salt Palace. 

LK. What was the kinds of things you did around Tintic to enjoy 

youselves? 

M. I had no tine for pleasure ... spent all my time washing, ironing 

and cooking for my five children. I don't know arout others ... 

didn' t see them. Kikushima san liked to drink so on Sv"da y ~ . 

he'd take a drink and pranptly fall asleep. We stayed there arout 

ten years with lots of other people but I didn't know anything 

a00Ut my husband drinking o My husband didn I t pay "H.?.>na. II either 

(Japanese card garre) • He was the type that didn' t talk much. 

After work he' d just take one drink. No autam::>bile during that 

t.i.rre so we couldn't go anyplace. After we l:x:mghh: a car in 1928, once 

a year we carre out to the picnic in Salt Lake so our children 

could mingle with other Japanese. We made lunch the day l::efore 

and before we reached Salt Lake we'd eat the lunch. The car 

couldn' t go very fast in those days. 

LK. So that the kids could consider marrying? 

M. Being Japanese, I thought it would 1::e nice to associate with 

other Japanese and I also wanted them to marry Japanese. It's nice 

that my children all married Japanese. 



I.K. You worked hard; you mentioned 'What kind of work did you do most 

of the time? 

M. Mter the war when we moved to Salt lake, my husband had an accident. 

So I went to work at a tailor's Shop sewing. 

time, washing and CCXJking, took all my time. 

Oh, .in T.intic, at that 

I had a nice garden. 

I.K. Can you describe what your day was like fran the time you woke 

up till evening? 

M. I th.ink I got up al::out 5: 30 a.m. • Made many lunches, al::out three 

sandwiches, each, railroad workers eat a lot. I didn 1 t know 

al::out different fill.ings for sandwiches so it was ham and egg, 

ham and egg, day after day. When the children started school, 

made sandwiches for them, too. So I had to get up at 5:00 a.m .. 

Then wash.ing for everyone, no powder soap at the time, had to 

scrub by bar soap, by hand ••• Those long underwears. Mter that, 

do.ing this and that, the days just went by. When the children 

grew up, I was able to do same knitt.ing .in the evenings. Ironing, 

had to heat the iron on top of the stove. It is an all day work. 

I raised chickens on the side, too. Coo.l(ed dinner for eve.rybody. 

I didn 1 t know too much al::out CCXJking so it was the same thing 

eve.ryday like CCXJking cabbages .in a big pot. Eve.ryone enjoyed that. 

In the winter we brought h.ind quarter of beef and a whole pig 

and hung them .in the garage. Then I would cut off the rreat to 

make sukiyaki. I used to watch Mrs. Bossley CCXJk so I learned 

to roast, too. Be.ing so big, they lasted till al::out April. I also 

learned to smoke bacon and ham and I did it myself. 

I.K. You said you ate most of the same things. What was that? 

M. Cabbage, cut .in quarters, with pig (pork) oone for flavor. 

Cabbage and lettuces grew well because it is so CCXJl. Big 
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and tight. Boiled them in a big kettle. CUcumbers and tanatoes 

did not do well. •. too cool. We got them fran Mr. Bossley. 

Mter the Japanese men retumed to Japan, the Bossley' s kids carte to 

work for my husband during stml!Tier t.i.rre and after school. I knew 

the Bossley• s kids since they were young and my kids used to 

go over there. I also cooked for the Bossley' s kids, too. 

I baked bread every other day .•• six loaves. 

LK. Were you paid for the cooking? 

M. About $20.00 a month for each one because I didn't know how much to 

charge. So I added up the whole month's grocery expenses, excluding 

the young kids, but my husband and me included, then divided the 

grocery expenses among us, even me, who did the cooking. I 

didn't know any better •.. very stupid. Country girl, didn't know 

anything. I didn't charge for washing nor haircutting but scrret.i.rre 

when they (Japanese men) got their pay checks, they brought 

cakes for the kids. My husband cut Mr. IchiKawa's hair and I 

cut my husband • s hair. I still cut my son-in-law• s hair, J:irrrny •• 

I didn • t cut FL:..ka..lshima • s nor Hachiya • s. I guess they wanted 

professional haircut ..• at Eureka ••• to look pretty ••• same people 

don't care. 

LK. Where did these Japanese men who worked for you, where did they 

go to meet women, if they wanted to? 

M. Fukushima san, once in two or three months, used to go to Salt 

Lake ••• train was free. He used to say "I am going to see my 

wife." Ichil::awa and Hachiya never went any place. They all had 

wives in Japan. Fukushima • s wife was dead. I think he had a 

son, same age as me, who was going to the University of Utah. 

Fukushima was always joking, •• a happy guy. He's the only one 

when he goes to Eureka to buy sarething for the kinds. Rest of 



OHI lntervlew WlUl: l'l.rS. uuy o !'.Lat..SUllU.Y a '-±/ L..::>/ b --± S.LQe L. CUUL....W.!U.<=.< 

the guy was stingy. He died, they all died after they retumed 

to Japan. "When I visited Japan, I visited Ichi.l(awa' s home in 

Yamanashl Ken near FUji san. 

LK. What were the other nationalities you rerne.mter living in Tintic? 

M. Japanese, Mexicans and Caucasians. I"m too busy cooking. N~ 

blacks, nor Chinese. I just saw Mexicans, Caucasians like engineers, 

operators, that kind of people. I didn't talk to anybody ••• just 

Bossley ..• too busy. I never knew. 

Tintic is not a town •.• it' s a junction. There was a big 

roundhouse, maintenance house, two sections and a boarding house 

and oonductors (agents, operator) • I think three houses, maybe, all 

together, six houses. There' s nothing there now. We went, my 

daughter and I, a couple of years ago and found nothing. There's 

no need to put coal and water to run the engines anymore, so there 

is nothing there now. :f\Tot. many children then, either. The dispatchers 

(operators) and others had their own hones in town. They were 

just renting. Boarding house is "Where "When the train stops, 

people can stop to eat .. runned by the railroad company. I never 

went there, even though it' s close by ... too busy chasing children. 

The railroad still run through there, engine (locomotives) are so big 

now it goes right through. 

LK. Did you order from the outside? 

M. Yes, from Salt lake. All kinds of Japanese items, foods, .•. rice 
(Soy ~ce) . 
oS,oyu, miSO (bean pa~ te) f\.anpyO (dry gourd) 1 sn f.taKe (mushroans) 

Once ·a year, made osushi for New Years. 

LK. Did you celebrate New Years? 

M. Yes, but now, it's too much trouble for ne. I'm getting old so 

I go to my daughter's place. At that time, Bossley from Payson 

and others cane. They bought their own friends and I cooked all 
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the Japanese fcx:xi ... from day b=fore ... took all day. They wanted 

to know what is this and what is that. They were all good to us •• · 

took us fishing. After fishing, Mrs. Bossley always sent pies 

and other goodies with m_y husband and the children always looked 

forward to that. Both of them are gone now. 

LK. Were there any incidents in Tintic of persecution or racial problems? 

M. No, at that time, no. There was no war then. After the war, 

the people treated us well. But around Salt Lake, in Garfield, 

there was some trouble ... sorne outside people must have done it. 

Railroad official were afraid of what might be done to the Japanese 

so they decided to lay off Japanese workers. 

In Garfield, there is a srrelting plant. Someone diverted 

the water and flcx:xied the railroad tracks. I heard such a story. 

After such an incident, the railroad officials decided to lay 

off all Japanese workers in order to avoid trouble. If they 

kept the Japanese they were afraid of such incidents so they asked 

us to move within three days. 

Pve been there, Garfield, once, and I dam' t know too much 

about the operation but there were many Japanese working there. 

Anyway, warm water (waste) seems to run into what looked like 

a lake and then the water ran into another place. Sarreone 

diverted the water so it would run into the railroad tracks. 

Maybe to blame it on the Japanese ... Even though Japanese workers 

won't cause trouble, the railroad people thought best to nove 

us, all the Japanese. Most of the Japanese were section foreman 

from Salt Lake on to califonria. All the Japanese working for the 

Union Pacific. Maybe Rio Grande, too. I don't know. In fact, the 

whole system. They told us we couldn' t go West but any place East, 

we could go free. We didn • t want to go to anyplace we didn't 



know. Sane went East, I think. 

I..J<. Before the war broke out, the life in Tintic .•• pretty lonely? 

M. It was lonely but what can we do when there's only that kind 

of work? Itr was close to school •.. that was the main reason 
I 

kids caught the bus to go to school in Eureka. 

My oldest daughter, Jean, when the war broke out, she was 

through with college and she was working. Jean is now over 60 

years old. 

LK. Did you have any inclining that the war would break out? 

M. I didn' t think there would J:::e one. America .is a big country. 

Japan is such a tiny nation. What are they talking arout, was 

the attitude. 

LK. Amongst each other, did you talk arout the relationships J:::etween 

Japan and America, Japanese and whites? 

M. We were living in a place where the~e weren't many Japanese. 

MayJ:::e once or twice a month when we meet in town it was just 

"hello, how are you?" · So we seldan discussed anything. Kikushima 

san, Matsumiya and others. 

Even though Japan is small they wouldn't give up so easily 

but never dreamed it would escalate to such a big war. And when 

the war started, radios, short wave~ c~ras and guns were all 

confiscated by the police. Mterward it was all returned. 

LK. Where were you when the war broke out? How did you find out? 

M. Fran the newspaper and fran the radio. We were really surprised. 

I..J<. What was your reaction? 

M. Japanese aren' t the type to give up easily but no matter what one 

says, American is a big country and we felt it wouldn'±. last very 

long. 
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LK. Were you frightened? 

M. We heard rumors that we will re sent to camp. So we started to 

pack our dh.hes and evecythj.ng. According to some people, it 

was rumored that kids will re sent to one camp and adults to 
:[ fhol(ght 

another camp. If that's the case, theni\I should put all the 

kids things in one suitcase. We heard lots of rumors like that. 

Jeannie and my second daughter (F'up)i:Ko) were in Salt I.ak:e. 

My third and fourth children were hCl!Te with me. The roy was away ... 

he wanted to became a chick~- Before that he was attending 

University of Utah and be loved to paint and draw so he registered 

at an Art School in california but the war broke out, so he 

couldn't go to california. Jeannie was working at the capital. Then 

she graduated fran business school and Fwniko was working as a 

school girl for Mrs. Mati\a and was attending business college. 

She just slept and ate at the place where she worked and went to 

school. Jeannie helped her with her tuition and I helped Jearmie. 

LK. What kind of rumors did you hear? 

M. Living in the country we never heard any truths. M:Ystly from 

newspaper and radio. We only heard bad news. 

LK. How did the rren react, your husband and the other men? 

M. Only Ichi}( awa san was left, others went back to Japan. Icl'1i;c,awa 

san was ready to go back to Japan when the war started so he couldn't 

go back so he came to Payson with us and farmed with us, then 

we rroved to Salt I.ak:e and he worked at the Haeel Temple Square 

in the kitchen as a dishwasher, the only kind of job there were. 

And my husband worked as a dishwasher at Mayflower. 

When we were in Payson, we were told that we could rent the 

house until the war ended but the owner came back early and told us 



to move. I drove all ove,r the place every day looking for a 

place to rent. Provo, every place, even a comer of a bam would 

do, but I was told it wasn't for rent to a Jap. We could buy a 

house but no one would rent a house to us. So finally we carre to 

Salt Lake, 21st South and West Temple. We were told that we 

couldn't buy a house east of Main Street. while in Payson, my 

husband worked picking :teans and peaches ... day work, picking 

tomatoes, etc., while I drove all over the place looking for a 

place to rent. 

IK. How would sanelxx:ly go from day to day to different jobs? 

M. We knew several people and they asked my husband to corre and work 

for thEm. They felt sorry for us so my husband worked for one 

fa.rrrer and then went to another fa.rrrer. There was a man from 

California who came voluntarily (evacuated) and he also helped 

my husband get a job. Mr. Oyana was his name. 

2 
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LK. When your husband was fired what happened to your husband when 

the war broke out? 

M. He wasn • t firedi he was given a leave of absence until the end 

of the war. People around that area ~ good but because of the 

mcident m Garfield, the official (railroad) thought it best 

not to keep any Japanese around. The company told us to go 

anywhere east. They would pay the expenses but not to go west 

or south. 

LK. Did you and your husband talk over what the future looked like 

at that time? 

M. Durmg the hectic days of war, we never thought alxmt anything 

like that. We heard rumors that children will be sent to one 

camp and the adults will be sent to another camp .• be separated. So 

I started to make two separate ba.ggages. It was just all worthless 

talk. I don • t know where the rumor started. Then we were told 

not to worry so I began unpacking everything. Everyl:xxly was 

frightened •.. just thost? worklllg for the railroad. People living 

m Utah didn It have to move or anything. F'arners and Japanese 

evacuees fran california were making money. There were many 

volunteer evacuees here. 

LK. What were the railroad men afraid of? 

M. I don't know. We didn't ccmmmicate with others. JOst heard 

rumors now and then. Maybe they were afraid of violence agamst 

Japanese so they asked us to move. Fran Los Angeles to Salt 

Lake, Salt Lake and Ogden and here, were all Japanese. 

M. I think •.. three days. I remember moving on Lmcoln • s birthday. 

LK. What were your personal options? What and Where did you think 

you could go at that t.irre? 
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M. We went to Fa yson because we knew sane friends there. My hus"band 

hired their boys to work on the railroad so we had friends. It 

wasn't to do fanning so my husband hired out by day for so much. 

People who went to Salt Lake worked at Colonial Hotel and other 

places. My children were older then; two were with me. Jeanne 

worked at the capitol and Fumiko was working for Mrs. Matha and 

going to LDS Business College. Jim, Jeanne's husband was in 

Colorado in the Anny and he was assigned to Ft. Douglas. There 

were many Niseis at Ft. Douglas then. That' s how Jeanne and Jim 

met. Most of the railroad workers who went to Salt Lake could 

only find work at a restaurant or hotels, and they had a hard 

time finding a place to stay. 

LK. Can you relate your experiences in trying to find a place to live? 

M. East of Main Street, we couldn' t rent or buy. I guess it was 

all right for Niseis. We, at first, did not intend to come to 

Salt Lake. We thought after the war we would return to the work at 

the section. So frcrn Eureka, Payson, Provo and round that area, 

I tried to find a place to rent but not one single place was 

opened to Japcmese to rent. I asked for even a comer of a ba.m 

but no one would rent us even that so we had to cane to Salt 

Lake to live with my daughter. She was renting. So we finally 

had to buy a house on 21st South and West Temple between Main Street. 

There is a street, Richard Street, 2132 Richard Street. It is 

not in the city limits and because we had chickens and pigs, we 

grabbed the place. It was in the country then. We pooled the 

rroney, the childrens' , and bought the house ... paid in full at thP 

time of purchase. No trouble in buying the house. 
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IK. What was your husband' s reaction to the outbreak of the war and 

being released? 

M. It must have :been the same with other people ••. got excited but 

couldn't do anything. He just discussed it with other Section 

workers. 

LK. Was he accepting of it? Was he disturbed by it? 

M. No matter how much you felt, what can you do? It's between country 

and country. Just keep our mouth shut. We had to live and eat. 

I had three kids going to school; no, two going to school. One 

to Granite High School and the other to Madison. 

LK. What was the atmosphere like as you rerneml:er it in Salt Lake at 

that time between whites and Japanese? What did it feel like? 

M. Since I was living in the country, my association with the 

caucasians were very friendly. I didn't have very l:ad feelings. 

They were all good to us. This is sanething done by the higher 

authorities so what can you do? I don't know about people in 

Salt Lake. There were groups of Japanese, railroad workers and 

others gathered at the Colonial HtJtel and were discussing, but 

we never joined them. I guess they had no jobs and just got 

together and gossiped. We were too busy fiXing up the house 

and everything. I think majority of the laid-off workers were 

thinking of going ba.ck to work again after the war. It was just 

a long vacation they took. They had seniority so they thought 

they could go back. That' s what everylxrly thought. We didn't 

talk about the war ••• just read the newspaper ... didn't talk to 

the kidSs •.. just kept our mouths shut. 

LK. What was your husband doing during that time? 

M. He was a dishwasher at the Mayflower Restaurant on Main Street, 

between First and Second South. 
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LK. How nRlch money was he able to make over there? 

M. I think he ate two rreals anyway, .he had weekly pay under $30 •• • 

I don•t remember. 

LK. How did you make ends meet at that time? What did you do? 

M. The kids hel-ped, too. They were working. Jeanne was working 

at the capitol. Groceries were rather cheap, not like today. 

I was sewing for a while for sorreone. I didn • t know how I!Rlch to 

charge. But afterwards I thought I better look for a job and 

found one at Horne Built. My daughter told them at the beginning 

that my mother is Japanese. Sorretimes if you tell them you• re 

Japanese, they won • t hire you. But my daughter told them that 

11my mother is Japanese and she can sew. 11 So they told rre to corre 

over and I went that morning. They told rre to start working. 

I loved to sew and to use sewing machine. At horne I made 

all the alterations for the children and for the husb:md. I 

sewed everything for the children and husb:md bought a sewing 

machine. Sometimes friends from Payson would ask rre to sew then 

I would sew for them. 

I think it was SO¢ an hour or 75¢ an hour, at Horne Built, 

"" owned by~ Jewish. They• re closed now. It was main clothing store .•. 
L14) 

alteration •.. west side of Main Street. "" Tal ·lor was a German. 

LK. How did you get the job? 

M. Fran the newspaper ad so my daughter told them that my mother 

never worked before and that she is a Japanese. 'Ihey told rre to 

come anyway so I went. Jeanne made it clear that I was a Japanese 

fran the beginning. I didn • t want to go and find out that they 

don•t hire Japanese. 

LK. What kind of sewing were you doing? 



M. Men's clothing alteration. Made the suit shorter or 

made the pants shorter for the customers who rought the suits. 

Tdilor would fit the suit and I made the alterations. 

At first it was 60¢ an hour, then I went to Hibbs after 

six months later. They're closed, too ... Ve.ry expensive store ... like 

Arthur Frank. My friend from California (evacuee ) was working 

there. Her name was Chiyo. I'm Chiyo, too. So the tailor called 

us nmnber one and m.nnl::~r two. I can' t rerneml:::er her last name. She 

died. 

LK. Did she ce>rre with her husband and children? 

M. Yes, she had a roy and a girl. The other ehlyo went to a tailor 

school and knew all arout tailoring. I didn't know anything 

arout tailoring but I picked it up myself and Chi yo taught me a 

lot. Her husband was a cleaner's presser. 

LK. Did your job change at Hibbs? Did you do different things? 

M. No, the sane thing .•• they taught me -.how to tailor more easily and 

cleaner (neater). 

LK. Did you get more money at Hibbs? 

M. Mayre $1. 00 an hour. 

LK. You were making more money than your husband? 

M. Yes. 

LK. Did you ever have any difficulty with other :people who worked in 

the store? How did they treat you? 

M. No. They all treated me well. They all liked me. When I 

left Herne Built, they tried to keep me and said they'll pay me 

more. Matsumiya was injured and was staying at home but I kept 

on working for arout 25 years. I took the bus back and forth. 

Mayre more than 25 years .•. then Hibbs closed. They sold the business 

to sanel::xJdy. I worked tmtil my husband got worse so I had to stay 



home. Even after I quit, when there was a sale at Hibbs they 

would bring me work at home. They roy on his way hane would 

drop off bundles of pants to alter, then in the morning he 

would pick them up. This went on al:x:>ut a month every year .•. 

Sale time was a busy time. 

Mter my husband died, I think I went back to Hibbs. He 

was injured in 1947 and in 1964 he passed away. 

LK. What happened to your husband? 

M. My husband was driving a Nash and a city bus hit him and crushed 

him ••. near 24th South and State. I didn't sue even a nickle. 

At that time reing a Japanese, there was no use, so somel:x:>dy 

told me,so I kept my mouth shut. I received $500 from the auto 

insurance and then I worked and took care of everything. Later 

the company kept asking me what I was going to do but I thought 

reing aftennath of war, I would keep quiet. When I think of it 

now, it was really stupid thing to do. By golly I'm going to 
If 

work and help my husband and I did. Fool, huh? 

LK. Did anyl:x:>dy tell you how the accident happened? 

M. He was driving alone so nol:x:>dy knew. Errergency people came to 

notify me and when I went he was unconscious so I thought I'd ask 

him later rut he was asleep for almost a month. 

LK.. How severe was the injury? What happened to him? 

M. Head injury. By looking at him, he seerred all right. There was 

Japanese lawyer, Mr. Kata}ama and a few young fellows. Rather 

than going to a lawyer, I thought I'd work. I didn't know anything. 

He was in the LDS Hospital three months six weeks ••• rrayre more 

than that. I was still working at Hibbs. So after work I would 

go to the hospital to see him by bus and my daughter would cortE 

after me. 
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LK. How long was he unconscious? 

M. I think, maybe couple of days, I can't r~ .•. it was a long 

time ago. I was working hard so we can eat. I still had two 

snall children. 

LK. What was the effect of the injury? What did it do to him? 

M. He lost his rremo.ry; it came back little later. "When I wrote to 

the relatives in Japan, I didn't mention how serious his injury was. 

There' s no _point in worrying them when they are so far away. 

Mter he :passed away I wrote them a.l::x:mt the accident. 

LK. Why didn't you mention it? 

M. I told than he was injured but not like that. I didn't tell 

them he lost his memory. But after he came reck from the hospital, 

he mowed the lawn, he kind of forgot how to do things but he 

made rice and he worked in the garden. He was really red for 

two or three years refore he :passed away. Then I had to take 

care of him at hane but up till then he was alone at h.c:IrE and I 

went to work. 

My husband had a bad heart and Mayflower people asked him to 

retire, so he stayed home. He raised vegetables and took them to 

the market. That was his pleasure but after his injury he just 

raised enough vegetables for hane use and used to cut the lawn. He 

was really sick two or three years refore he died. Then I worked 

and put my younger daughter, Josephine, through University of 

Utah. Josephine was only in the second or third grade, in gramna.r 

school, when the accident happened. It was l8 years, my husband 

was hane from the injury •.. so I worked. She is a dietician. 

LK. QNls! time you mentioned you kept a diary, a journal1 at the time your 

husband got ill. What made you do it? 
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M. Yes, I started, and was looking at it. It's all btmdled up. 

Sane of them is a lxx>k, sane of it is just written in a notel:xx:>k. 

Kids can• t read it so I'll bum it up or throw it away, I guess. 

LK. Don't throw it away. 

M. It was arout my husband ... that • s all. •. I was just trying • 

• K. Were you able to participate in community life in Salt Lake •.• 

Japanese church, for instance, Buddhist Temple? 

M. Before Matsurniya was injured, after we carne here, I joined the 

Buddhist Church because they were looking for new members. Ever 

since I was a child I visited the temple in Japan. After Matsumiya 

was injured, I couldn't go anyrrore but after he passed away, I 

was dragged in to participate, just because I can drive. I was 

really busy with Buddhist Church activities but now I'm old and 

I don • t go very often. 

I also learned sh1gin and ikebana (flower arrangement). 
l~ ~ 

Shl ginA recitation of Chinese poems. There are three Sh!gin groups 

in Salt Lake. I belong to the SauKi group ( koK.U fu.ryu .•• country 

music style). I liked to sing Sh ~gin. With _that group, I went to 

Denver, Seattle, Portland, Japan. I sure enjoyed it. This is 

after my husband died; my kids encouraged rre to go. They said they 

will take care of the house, so I went, using my own money. I 

went to Ho~ido-to clear down to Kyushu. I'm glad I did it when 

I moved down. Now I'm too old, I don•t want to go any place. 

LK. When you look back upon things and you canE here as a young girl, 

are you satisfied, was it all worth it? 

M. Yes, I always wanted to cane to this country in the first 

pl ace. I' m satisfied. 
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LK. When. you went back to Japan with the singing group, what did you 

think about the differences? 

M. I guess I went to Japan about 1970 in the spring. I went to 

Hok)<aido then down to Kyushu. P...okf<aida was cold and no cherry 

blossans, but as I came down, I begQn to see cherry blossoms 

bloc:rning. It was really pleasant. When we visited the big cities 

like Tokyo, Sendai, Kyoto, Osaka, Beppu, we participated in 

their tournaments, conventions, rna.ss meetings. My fondest memory 

is the one held at Kyushu. Every place we went, the host took 

care of us, took us on a tour. The tour was three weeks, singing 

at each place. 

I.K. What was your sense of the contrasts between the countries, 

what was the effect of being back there? 

M. Of course, I was bom there. I missed Japan and I thought it 

was a beautiful country. Lots of people I noticed. What I learned 

about history in Japan sort of all carre back to me. My kids said 

"don1 t worry about harre" .•• stay as long as you want "so I went to 

m_y sister' s place, m_y own hometown. " The tour ended and those who 

wanted to stay CXJUJ.d stay as long as they wanted. Those who wanted 

to go back, could go back to America after the tour. I think I 

stayed about three m::>nths, maybe not that long. 


